2008-KA-00714-SCT

T

1. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellant hereby certifies

That the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this appeal.

This representation is made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court

May evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Pedro Lima, Parchman, Ms.
- 2. David L. Walker, Batesville, Ms.
- 3. Jessica Houck, Independence, Ms.
- 4. John Champion, Hernando, Ms.
- 5. Rhonda Amis, Hernando, Ms.

Respectfully submitted,

This the 13thday of August 2008.

David L. Walker MBI Counsel for Appellant

-i-

II.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING DR. STEVEN HAYNE TO BE AN EXPERT WITNESS PURSUANT TO MRE 702.
- B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE
 APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND IN THE
 ALTERNATIVE JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE EVIDENCE.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Pedro Lima was indicted by the grand jury of Tate County, Mississippi on October 24th, 2006 for the capital murder of Daniel Houck while engaged in the crime of robbery in direct violation of section 97-3-19 (2) (e) MCA 1972. Clerk's record at 4. He proceeded to trial on February 4th, 2008 and the petit Jury returned a verdict of guilty of capital murder. R. at 318. A poll of the petit jury pursuant to URCCCP 3.10 indicated that the verdict was unanimous. R. at 318-319. The trial court sentenced the Appellant to life in prison without the possibility of parole. R. at 322. The Appellant filed a motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and the trial court denied the same. Clerk's record at 43-45. The Appellant then filed a notice of appeal of his conviction. R at. 46.

APPELLANT'S TRIAL WITNESSES

MARCELO MENDEZ

Marcelo Mendez lived in a barn by Danny Houck's house and had known Mr. Houck for approximately six years. R. at 17. He was working part-time helping Mr. Houck fix a restaurant. R. at 18. He knew the Appellant, who also worked for Mr. Houck at the restaurant. R. at 19. He worked at the restaurant on the day before Mr. Houck was found dead. He thought that the Appellant was suppose to work also, but he did not. R. at 20.

Mr. Houck was mad at the Appellant for not coming to work. Id. The Appellant was living in Mr. Houck's house. Id. The before he and Mr. Houck lft work, Mr. Houck received a call and someone asked him to bring toilet tissue to the house. R. at 21. On the way home, Mr. Houck told him that he was not mad at the Appellant, but was going to ask him to leave the house because he did not show up for work. Id. Mr. Houck dropped him off at the barn and told him that he was going to the house. R. at 22.

On cross examination Mr. Mendez testified that Mr. Houck was kind of md that day. R. at 25. Mr. Houck paid his workers at the restaurant in case or traded out services. R. at 26.

JESSICA HOUCK

Jessica Houck was the daughter of Danny Houck. R. at 28. She
Went to her father's house on March 26th 2006 and found and found a man laying
on the floor. R. at 32. She could not identify him because of the way the body
was positioned. R. at 33. She then ran and told her mother what she had discovered.
Id. She later realized that this person was her father. R. at 34. He was found in the
family room. R. at 37. Her father primarily traveled in a green car. Id. This car
was not at the house at which she found her father. R. at 39. He kept cash, cards
photographs and identification a money clip that he carried in a shirt pocket. R.
at 40. He also had a cell telephone that he carried with him. Id.

On cross examination Ms. Houck testified that her father was a large man. R. at 41. She did not notice any broken glass, broken furniture near her father's body. R. at 42. Her father had an in-charge personality. R. at 44.

DAVID FREEMAN

On March 26th, 2006 David Freeman was a patrolman with the Tate County Sheriff's Department. R. at 45. He was dispatched to an address on Barr Road. Id. He entered the room where the deceased body was located and saw blood splattered on the wall and Mr. Houck laying on the floor. R. at 47. He saw blood on the floor with a a footprint in it. R. 49.

On cross examination Patrolman Freeman testified that he did not search the house for any type of weapons, knives, guns, clubs, hatchets. R. at 52.

ASHLEY BRIDGES

At the time of the trial Ashley Bridges was nineteen years old and had been charged as an accessory after the fact in this case. R. at 54. She testified that the district attorney had not promised her anything nor made any kind of plea bargain with her. Id. He had asked her to tell the truth about what happened. Id. At one point in time the Appellant was her boyfriend. R. at 56. She had two children with him. Id. They were boyfriend and girlfriend in March of 2006. Id. At that time they were living on Barr Road. Id. The Appellant was working at Mr. Houck's restaurant at the time and they were living rent-free at the Barr Road house. Id. Mr. Houck provided household necessities for them. R. at 57. In exchange for these items, the Appellant

worked at the restaurant. R. at 57. However, the Appellant thought that he should be paid as well as being able to live in the house free of rent and being supplied food and diapers. Id.

According to Ms. Bridges the Appellant was mad on March 25^{th,} 2006 because he wanted to be paid for his work. R. at 57. The Appellant did not go to work that day. He was drinking beer, tequila and maybe rum. R. at 58. He asked her to call Mr. Houck twice that day to make sure that he was coming to the house. R. at 58-59. During the first telephone call Mr. Houck advised her that he was mad at the Appellant. R. at 59. During the second telephone call she requested Mr. Houck to bring over some toilet paper. She found this odd because there was toilet paper in the house. R. at 60.

Mr. Houck came to the house at approximately 11:00-11:30. However, she did not know that he had come into the house. R. at 61. She was in her room and heard a sound like something hitting up against the wall like a thump. R. at 63. She then heard the Appellant scream Mr. Houck's name and Mr. Houck scream "Please, God, help me." Id. She then departed her room and walked toward the living room and saw the Appellant with blood on the side of one of his arms. Id. The Appellant then made her go into the living room and she saw Mr. Houck laying in a corner and bloody. R. at 64. The Appellant then started throwing things at Mr. Houck. Id. The Appellant threw an old-timey iron at Mr. Houck. R. at 64-65. She saw the Appellant go through Mr. Houck's pocket and get out credit cards and papers, but no money. R. at 65. He also took his car keys and his cell phone. R. at 66. She saw the Appellant with a knife.

However, she did not see him with a knife when she saw him with blood on one of his arms. There was a toolbox in the living room with knives in it. R. at 69. Eventually, she got into Mr. Houck's car with the Appellant and departed. R. at 69-70. The Appellant threw a knife and Mr. Houck's cell telephone out of the car. R. at 70. They drove to Missouri and then to Mexico. R. at 70-71. Her family eventually helped return from Mexico. R. at 76. Both the Appellant and Mr. Houck were mad on the day in question. R. at 79. She denied that she had anything to do with the death of Mr. Houck. R. at 80.

On cross examination Ms. Bridges testified that she did not see the fight between the Appellant and Mr. Houck. R. at 81. The district attorney went over this in detail with her. Id. She gave two statements concerning this case. R. at 82. She admitted that there was nothing in a statement that she had given to law enforcement officers that the Appellant told her to tell that a "Shorty" had anything to do with the death of Mr. Houck. R. at 89. She admitted that her statements to law enforcement officials were not the same. R. at 90. She did not know what her sentence would be in this case, but she did not expect to go to jail. Id. The Appellant and Mr. Houck got crossways about buying expensive items. Id. Mr. Houck was taller and weighed more than the Appellant. R. at 92. Mr. Houck spent some nights at the Barr Road house and thus knew where things were kept. R. at 96. She did not hear the conversations between the Appellant and Mr. Houck on the day in question. R. at 98. On redirect examination, she admitted that she lied to law enforcement officers. R. at 104.

CHUCK POE

Chuck Poe testified that he was an agent with the Mississippi Bureau of
Investigation. R. at 112. He investigated the death of Mr. Houck. Id. He went
to the house on Barr Road. R. at 116. He interviewed Ms. Bridges, who initially
gave an untruthful statement surrounding the events that occurred on Barr Road. R. at
118. He also interviewed the Appellant. To his knowledge, the Houck vehicle was
never recovered. Id. The Appellant advised Investigator Poe in this statement that
Marcelo Mendez had killed Mr. Houck. R. at 122. Mr. Mendez then made the
Appellant go to Mexico with him. R. at 123. Investigator Poe advised the Appellant
this could not be true. R. at 124. He then recanted his statement and admitted that he
killed Mr. Houck with a knife and an iron. R. at 124. He admitted to going through
the pockets of Mr. Houck. R. at 125. A video was made of this statement, but something

On cross examination, Investigator Poe testified that on March 25 or 26 2006 there were two angry men at the house on Barr Road. R. at 128. The Appellant's statement to him was not under oath. R. at 129. There was nothing in Investigator Poe's notes about the Appellant being asked if he acted in self-defense when he fought with Mr. Houck. R. at 130. Ms. Bridges advised Investigator Poe that she was in the back room when the events between the Appellant and Mr. Houck occurred. R. at 131.

happened to it. R. at 125. A video of this statement does not exist. R. at 126. According

to Investigator Poe's recollection, the Appellant did not claim self-defense in this

statement. R. at 127.

OSCAR BLYTHE

At the time of the trial Oscar Blythe worked for the United States Marshal's Service in Memphis, Tn. R. at 135. He helped to apprehend the Appellant. R. at 136. He recovered a black and silver lock-blade knife from the vehicle that the Appellant had been traveling in. R. at 140.

On cross examination Deputy Marshal Blythe testified that he did not find any items that could be used to secure a person or kidnap a person in the room in which the Appellant had been staying. R. at 147. Self defense is a defense to a homicide charge. R. at 148.

BRAD LANCE

Brad Lance was sheriff of Tate County, Mississippi at the time of the trial and before that he had served as chief deputy sheriff. R. at 150. He did a walk-through of the house at which Mr. Houck's body was found. R. at 151. He was with Investigator Poe when Ms. Bridges was interviewed. R. at 155. He interviewed the Appellant on September 6th, 2006. R. at 157. This interview was video-taped. R. at 160. The Appellant originally implicated Marcelo as the person who killed Mr. Houck. Id. After being told that Marcelo was not a suspect in the death of Mr. Houck and playing a tape of Ms. Bridges' statement, the Appellant admitted to killing Mr. Houck. R. at 161. He agreed with Ms. Bridges version of events. Id. He killed Mr. Houck with a knife and and an iron. He was angry. R. at 162. Mr. Houck was angry at the Appellant for buying more expensive items for his family. Id. He, Ms. Bridges and their child left the house in

Mr. Houck's vehicle. R. at 163. The Appellant did not assert self defense in the initial interview. Id. He did not claim that Mr. Houck attacked him nor that there was a physical struggle with Mr. Houck. Id. There is nothing on the tape made of the interview with the Appellant. R. at 164.

On January 31st, 2007 the Appellant requested an interview with Mr. Lance. The Appellant had heard that Ms. Bridges had been locked up when she came to visit him. R. at 166-167. He wanted her released. R. at 168. He told Mr. Lance that only he knew the real reason that he killed Mr. Houck. R. at 169. On March 9th, 2007 the Appellant sent Mr. Lance another request to talk with him. Id. He gave Mr. Lance a video-taped-statement. R. at 172.

On cross examination Mr. Lance testified that Ms. Bridges gave two statements that differed in the role that Shorty played in the death of Mr. Houck. R. at 179. Ms. Bridges never told him that she actually witnesses the incident between the Appellant and Mr. Houck. R. at 180. He did not recall asking the Appellant whether he acted in self-defense in the statement given on September 6th, 2006. R. at 181. According to the Appellant's personal information sheet, he was five foot three and weighed 140 pounds. Id. In his last statement given to Mr. Lance, the Appellant claimed that Mr. Houck grabbed a knife and grabbed him by the hair. R. at 182.

DR. STEVEN HAYNE

Dr. Steven Hayne testified that he worked as the chief state pathologist for the Department of Public Safety Medical Examiner's office, State of Mississippi.

R. at 194. He conceded that he is not the chief medical examiner for the state. R. at 197. He was asked by the Tate County coroner to perform an autopsy on the body of Mr. Houck. R. at 206. Mr. Houck had injuries consistent with having his throat slashed. R. at 209. He identified thirteen slash wounds on the body of Mr. Houck. R. at 210. The carotid arteries of Mr. Houck were slashed. R. at 214. He found wounds on Mr. Houck consistent with defensive posturing injuries. R. at 216. Mr. Houck's body contained five stab wounds. R. at 218. The cause of Mr. Houck's death was two lethal slash wounds to the neck resulting in slash wounds of the right and left common carotid arteries and the larynx. R. at 219. The manner of death was homicide. Id.

On cross examination, Dr. Hayne testified that the blows to the head of Mr. Houck were not lethal. Id. Mr. Houck was six feet tall and weighed two hundred pounds. Id. He could not testify as to whether the homicide was justifiable or non-justifiable. R. at 220. The number of wounds on the body of Mr. Houck would indicate a struggle with someone. R. at 222.

ARTHUR STEVEN CHANCELLOR

In 2006 Arthur Steven Chancellor was employed by the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation as a senior crime scene analyst. R. at 227. He went to the Barr Road house to perform a crime scene investigation. Id. He found an unopened package of toilet paper sitting on an island in the kitchen. R. at 231. He found an old fashioned iron next to the head of Mr. Houck. R. at 235. In the room where the body of Mr. was found, there were some items that had been moved over, such as a small table. R. at 245.

On cross examination Mr. Chancellor testified that he did not think that a man would let his throat be cut without a fight. R. at 252. Mr. Houck's body was located in the middle of the room. R. at 254.

APPELLANT TRIAL WITNESS

PEDRO LIMA

Pedro Lima was born in Mexico. He came to Tate County, Ms. to work for Mr. Houck at the Rio Linda restaurant doing general construction work. R. at 257-258. Mr. Houck promised him a job and a place to live. R. at 259. He moved into a house owned by Mr. Houck with Ashley Bridges on Barr Road. Id. Mr. Houck stayed at the house sometimes. R, at 260. Mr. Houck did not come and pick up the Appellant for work on the day in question. R. at 261. He argued with Ms. Bridges because Mr. Houck wanted him to work until midnight or later. Id. Mr. Houck did not pick up the Appellant because Mr. Houck was mad at him because he did not want to work late. R. at 262. Mr. Houck came and talked to the Appellant and advised him that he would have to move out of the house if he did not work late. Id. He never asked Ms. Bridges to call Mr. Houck. Id. He did not know if the house need toilet tissue. R. at 263. Mr. Houck came to the house at approximately eleven or twelve. Id. He talked with the Appellant in the living room. Id. Mr. Houck told the Appellant that he would have to leave the house because he would not work late. The Appellant explained to him why he could not work late. Id. Mr. Houck then became mad. Id. When Mr. Houck got up to go, he told the Appellant that he had something for him. That is when he got a knife. Id.

Mr. Houck secured the knife from where he was sitting. It was big and long. R. at 264. Mr. Houck tried to stab the Appellant with this knife. He then ran to the laundry machine and grabbed an iron. Id. He threw the iron at Mr. Houck. Id. He hit Mr. Houck a second time when he was trying to get. He took the knife away from Mr. Houck and stabbed him with it. R. at 265. Mr. Houck made the first move in the fight. Id. The Appellant feared for his life. Id. He cut Mr. Houck's throat because he was afraid that Mr. Houck would get up and kill him. R. at 266. He ran because he was an illegal immigrant and scared. Id. He was not drunk. Mr. Houck was approximately one foot taller than the Appellant. Id.

On cross examination the Appellant testified that he had money. R. at 267.

Mr. Houck was not paying the Appellant to work for him. Id. The fight between

The Appellant and Mr. Houck was over the Appellant having to work late. R. at 268.

He told Mr. Lance that he agreed with Ms. Bridges statement because he was afraid that if he said it was not true, then Ms. Bridges would get into trouble for lying. R. at 270. Mr. Houck wanted the Appellant to leave the house, but did not want to pay him for his work. He cursed the Appellant and got mad at him. R. at 271. The Appellant did not tell law enforcement officers that he acted in self-defense because he did not think that he would be believed on the basis that he was an illegal immigrant. R. at 276-277. Mr. Houck tried to kill the Appellant first, so he had to defend himself. R. at 277. Mr. Houck at one time threatened to kill Ms. Bridges. R. at 287.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in accepting Dr. Steven Hayne as an expert witness pursuant to MRE 702. Dr. Hayne's work load and reliability raised crucial questions in this case. He is not board certified by the American Board of Forensic Pathology in forensic pathology...

The court erred in failing to grant the Appellant's motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The weight and sufficiency of the evidence presented at the trial favored the Appellant. His testimony that he acted in self-defense in the fight with Mr. Houck was uncontradicted.

VII. ARGUMENT

The Appellant objected to Dr. Steven Hayne being accepted as an expert witness pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702. R. at 203. He argued that based upon the voir dire of Dr. Hayne testimony is not the product of reliable principles and methods. R. at 204. The district attorney responded that he did not think that the trial court heard a single question asked of Dr. Hayne concerning his principles and methods. Id. The trial court overruled the Appellant's motion and declared Dr. Hayne an expert witness in the field of forensic pathology. Id.

The Appellant include this issue in his motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, thus preserving this issue for review. Fears v. State. 779 So. 2d 1125, 1127 (Miss. 2004). At the hearing on the aforesaid motion the Appellant argued to the trial court that pursuant to Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003) and MRE 702 that the trial court should determine that proposed expert testimony is relevant and reliable.

R. at 329. The Appellant did not dispute that Dr. Hayne's testimony was relevant. Id. However, the Appellant did dispute the reliability of Dr. Hayne's testimony. R. at 330. Dr. Hayne testified that he performed, in general, one thousand five hundred autopsies a year. R. at 200. Dr. Hayne conceded that a book entitled Forensic Patholgy recommends that approximately 250 autopsies should be performed a year by a doctor.

R. at 199. The National Association of Medical Examiners indicates that a medical examiner should perform no more that 250 autopsies per year. After 325 autopsies that

organization refuses to certify an examiner's practice. Dr. Hayne did not know how many autopsies that he had performed by the end of March 2006. R. at 201. He could have performed more than 350 autopsies or less than 350 autopsies in the first three months of 2006. Id. His work was not peer reviewed in this particular autopsy. R. at at 203. He conceded that he is not certified by the American Board of Pathology in forensic pathology. R. at 198. Dr. Hayne testified that he was the chief state pathologist, but did not claim to be chief state medical examiner. R. at 197. He explained his ability to perform the aforesaid number of autopsies with the comment that "Some people can't work like I do." R. at 201. The assistant district attorney responded to the Appellant's argument at the motion for new trial and in the alternative for a JNOV that Dr. Hayne's testimony was relevant and reliable. R. at 335. She also noted Dr. Hayne's extensive history of testifying for years in thousands of cases. R. at 335. She also noted that he was certified in some regards. Id. The trial court ruled that it was proper in admitting Dr. Hayne as an expert witness. R. at 336-337.

The Appellant would note that on August 4th, 2008 that the commissioner of the Mississippi Department of Public Safety removed Dr. Hayne from a list of state designated pathologists. *The Clarion-Ledger*, August 5th, 2008. He barred county coroners from using Dr. Hayne to perform autopsies. *The Clarion-Ledger*, August 6th, 2008.

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court. <u>Crawford</u>
v. State, 754 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 2000). In <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 2007-KA-01023-

COA, decided April 22, 2008 the Court of Appeals that some factors to consider in evaluating the qualifications of a medical doctor in criminal case include the knowledge, and experience. Additionally, the Court noted that peer review of the work of an expert witness would be helpful in evaluating the qualifications of an expert witness. Id. The Appellant would concede that the Court did hold that the lack of peer review does not Constitute automatic inadmissibility. Id.

If the trial court exercises its discretion on the issue of the admission of expert testimony is a manner that is clear wrong, then reversal of that decision is proper.

Williams v. State, 970 So. 2d 727 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The method used by Dr.

Hayne concerning the number of autopsies that he performed each year raises doubt about the reliability of the results of the autopsies performed, his lack of board certification in the field of forensic pathology by the American Board of Pathology and the lack of a peer review of his work in this case requires the Court to hold that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony of Dr. Hayne based upon the facts and circumstances of this case as noted herein.

The trial court denied the Appellant's motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a JNOV. R. at 45. A motion for a new trial seeks to vacate the judgment on grounds related to the weight of the evidence. **Williams**, supra. A motion for a JNOV tests the sufficiency of the evidence. Id. Each of these motions is addressed to the discretion of the trial court. Id. A reviewing court may only reverse the trial court's decision if the trial court abused its discretion when it overruled these motions. Id.

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