IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PEDRO LIMA

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0714

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING DR. HAYNE TO TESTIFY IN THE FIELD OF FORENSIC PATHOLOGY
- 2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING DR. HAYNE TO TESTIFY IN THE FIELD OF FORENSIC PATHOLOGY

Preliminarily, we note that the Appellant has attempted to allege the existence of facts not supported by the record in his argument concerning Dr. Steven Hayne. Specifically, he alleges that Dr. Hayne was removed from the list of State designated pathologists and that county coroners have been barred from utilizing Dr. Hayne's services. (Brief for the Appellant, at 15). These allegations of fact, unsupported by this record, are to be ignored. *Mason v. State*, 440

So.2d 318 (Miss. 1983).

Secondly, to the extent that the Appellant bases part of his argument on a theory that Dr. Hayne was not qualified to testify as a forensic examiner on account of any alleged failure on Dr. Haynes' part to comply with any requirement relating to pathologists in Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-61-51 et seq (Rev. 2005), we submit that the Appellant has no standing to complain of any such alleged failure on the part of Dr. Hayne to comply with the technical requirements of the Mississippi Medical Examiner Act of 1986. Evans v. State, 725 So.2d 613, 657 (Miss. 1997). In determining whether Dr. Hayne was qualified to testify as a forensic pathologist under M.R.E 702, the enquiry in the trial court was whether the testimony was based upon sufficient facts or data, whether the testimony was the product of reliable principles and methods, and whether the witness applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. None of these considerations necessarily requires specific and strict compliance with the Medical Examiner Act. To have been qualified as an expert in forensic pathology, it was necessary only to show that Dr. Havne met these requirements of the rule just set out. The various provisions of the Medical Examiner Act are collateral to the question of whether Dr. Hayne was qualified to testify as a forensic pathologist.

Prior to the testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne, the prosecution moved *in limine*, to prohibit the defense from attempting to impeach Dr. Hayne with articles appearing in various publications throughout the country concerning Dr. Hayne. In response, the defense indicated that it wished to challenge the reliability of Dr. Hayne's testimony under M.R.E. 702. The State then noted that Dr. Hayne had been qualified in the field of forensic pathology in many, many criminal cases and never been found unqualified to so testify. The trial court then allowed *voir dire* of Dr. Hayne by the defense. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 185 - 192).

In the course of its examination of Dr. Hayne, the defense brought out that he was, by his characterization, the chief state pathologist in Mississippi's medical examiner's office. His work involved post - mortem examinations as requested by the coroners of the State. He then went on to describe what that work entailed. His medical training, he said, included pathology training at Letterman Army Medical Center, rotations at Children's Hospital, Union Memorial Blood Bank, the Sixth Army Medical Laboratory, the University of California, Moffet Hospital, the Medical Examiner's Office for the City and County of San Francisco, as well as others. His first duty station was as chief of pathology and consultant for preventative medicine and chief of infections disease at Munson Army Hospital. For the last twenty years, Dr. Hayne worked at different institutions continuously essentially in the medical examiner's office.

Dr. Hayne further testified that he had testified in the State of Mississippi in some 3,500 to 4,000 cases and had never been found unqualified to testify as an expert in forensic pathology.

He stated that he was placed in the position of acting State medical examiner by Governor Bill Allain but left that position and returned to a state pathologist position after the Allain administration. His current title at the time of trial was chief state pathologist. This position is different from chief medical examiner.

He stated that he had been certified as a forensic pathologist by the American Board of Forensic Pathology, but not the American Board of Pathology. He was also certified by the American Board of Forensic Examiners. He stated that he was certified by the American Board of Pathology in anatomic anc clinical pathology.

Dr. Hayne further stated that he believed that he had performed some 1,500 autopsies from March of 2005 to March of 2006 and that it would be typical for him to perform that number of autopsies a year. He thought that the author or authors of a book entitled *Forensic*

Pathology recommended that a forensic pathologist should perform 250 to 350 autopsies a year. He explained his ability to perform so many more a year by the facts that he did not take vacations, that he worked seven days a week, taking only Christmas, Thanksgiving and Easter as holidays, and that he worked sixteen to seventeen hours a day. He noted no diminution of his intellectual or physical vigor. He cited to one Botten, who, Hayne said, thought that a pathologist ought to perform a thousand autopsies a year to remain competent.

Dr. Hayne stated that he took a written and oral examination from the American Board of Forensic Pathology in order to become certified by that organization. He was "grand fathered in" by the American Academy of Forensic Examiners.

Dr. Hayne's autopsies have been peer - reviewed. However, the autopsy in the case at bar was not.

Upon this testimony, the defense asserted that Dr. Hayne should not be accepted as an expert witness in the field of forensic pathology, his work allegedly not being the product of reliable principles and methods. The trial court overruled the Appellant's objection to the qualification of Dr. Hayne. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 193 - 204).

As the Appellant notes, the admission of evidence is a matter left to the discretion of a trial court. *Bishop v. State*, 982 So.2d 371, 380 - 381 (Miss. 2008). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Dr. Hayne to testify as an expert in the field of forensic pathology.

The Appellant does not maintain that there is no area of expertise known as forensic pathology. His position here, as it was in the trial court, is that Dr. Hayne was not qualified to testify in that field.

As best as we can tell, this position of the Appellants rest upon Dr. Hayne's lack of certification by the American Board of Pathology and the number of autopsies performed per

year by him. However, the Appellant showed nothing in the trial court that would have given the trial court reason to believe that Dr. Hayne was not sufficiently educated or trained in the field of forensic pathology to qualify as an expert in that field. Nor did the Appellant in any fashion demonstrate that the autopsy in the case at bar was not conducted properly.

This Court has held that Dr. Hayne is qualified as an expert witness in the field of forensic pathology. *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 792 (Miss. 2007)(Dr. Hayne qualified to proffer expert opinions in forensic pathology); *Duplantis v. State*, 708 So.2d 1327, 1339 (Miss. 1998)(Dr. Hayne is unquestionably qualified to testify in our courts as a forensic pathologist.)

Dr. Hayne has testified in the criminal courts of this State for years – some 3,500 to 4,000 times, by his count. Our search on Westlaw with respect to Dr. Hayne resulted in some 172 reported decisions in cases in which he testified. As against these facts, the Appellant simply states that number of autopsies performed per year by Dr. Hayne and his lack of certification by the American Board of Pathology "raises doubt about the reliability of the results of autopsies performed [by him]".

As for Dr. Hayne's certification, it is true that he stated that he was not certified by the American Board of Pathology. While it may be that the State Medical Examiner is required to be so certified, Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-61-55 (Rev. 2005), pathologists appointed or employed by him under the supervision of the Commissioner of Public Safety are not required to be so certified. Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-61-77(3) (Rev. 2005). Dr. Hayne was not required to possess certification by the American Board of Pathology in order to perform autopsies for the State of Mississippi. He was not and never claimed to be the current State Medical Examiner.

As for the claim that the reliability of Dr. Hayne's work could be in doubt, the Appellant has not demonstrated specifically, in the case at bar, or more generally, why this should be so.

There is nothing shown to indicate that Dr. Hayne's opinions in the case at bar were the consequence of faulty forensic medicine. It is merely the Appellant's opinion or supposition, utterly unsupported by fact, that there might be something amiss about autopsies performed by Hayne. The very most that may be said of the Appellant's opinion is that it would be a matter for juries to consider when considering the weight and credibility of Dr. Hayne's testimony. There is no basis to find abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in finding Hayne qualified to testify as a forensic pathologist.

In the event, however, that this Court should find that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the expert opinion of Dr. Hayne, any such error should be regarded as harmless error. The Appellant gave a confession or a statement in which he admitted having killed Houck and the manner in which he did so. Bridges' testimony also established what the Appellant did. Houck died as a result of having his throat slashed. The testimony and photographs surely made that fact plain. An ordinary person would not have required expert testimony to know that having one's throat slashed can easily result in death. An erroneous admission of expert testimony is susceptible to a harmless error analysis. *Young v. State*, 981 So.2d 308 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Should the Court find that Dr. Hayne's testimony was erroneously admitted in the case at bar, any such error was harmless. There was no issue in the case at bar concerning the cause of death, and whether the death caused was homicide.

The first assignment of error is without merit.

2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In considering the allegations of the Second Assignment of Error, we bear in mind the standards of review applicable to them. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

Briefly restated, the evidence in support of the verdict, taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences therefrom, are these. The Appellant, annoyed with Houck because Houck had not or would not pay him money for his labor, over and above the provision of the house, food and other necessities, lured Houck to the house. The Appellant had his girlfriend call Houck to say that they were in need of toilet paper. Houck came to the house and the Appellant viscously attacked him, killing him. As Houck lay dying, the Appellant went through Houck's pockets. The Appellant and his girlfriend then loaded their belongings into Houck's car and set off for Mexico. While much of the account of Houck's murder was given by Bridges, Bridge's account was corroborated by the condition of Houck's body and the appearance of the crime scene. The Appellant admitted his guilt, and he stated that Bridge's statement to law enforcement as to what happened was true. A package of toilet paper was found in the kitchen, further corroborating Bridge's account..

After his apprehension in Tennessee some months later, the Appellant blamed another person for Houck's death, saying that he had been forced to assist that individual. However, that account was clearly shown to be untrue by the fact that the individual said to have killed Houck was present at the barn when Houck's body was found. That person did not flee, as the Appellant claimed.

The next account the Appellant gave was an admission that everything Bridges said in her statement was correct. The Appellant admitted having killed Houck, taking his possessions, and

disposing of the murder weapon.

The third account the Appellant gave, given some time after his admission, was that he killed Houck in self defense.

What we have set out here is merely an outline of the evidence of the Appellant's guilt.

But suffice it to say, the State overwhelmingly established the Appellant's guilt for capital murder. The fact that the Appellant gave three different accounts of Houck's death serves further to corroborate the State's evidence.

The Appellant claims that the State did not put facts in evidence to contradict his third account of how Houck met his death. It is true that Bridges did not see the initial attack upon Houck, but she did see the Appellant throwing an iron at Houck as Houck bled to death and did see the Appellant rifling through Houck's pockets. And she likewise saw the Appellant dispose of the murder weapon as the Appellant fled to Mexico. She also heard the Appellant brag about his having killed Houck. These facts were entirely sufficient to put the Appellant's third account into question. The credibility of the Appellant was certainly in question.

The verdict cannot possibly be said to have been contrary to the great weight of the evidence, or that it constituted an unconscionable injustice. The Appellant's testimony was contradictory and unbelievable. On the other hand, the evidence against the Appellant was substantial and corroborated. It was a matter for the jury to determine, and, if anything, it would have been an unconscionable injustice had the jury acquitted the Appellant. The evidence did not come close to weighing solely in favor of the Appellant. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing a new trial.

The Second Assignment of Error is wholly without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.